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ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the evidence was sufficient to establish sexual
exploitation by a therapist, in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.22(2), as
alleged in Count 3, when the complainant participated in the session
during which the alleged sexual contact occurred, not for purposes of
therapy, but purely as a police agent attempting to corroborate her
allegations of prior sexual misconduct by Dr. DeLain.

The circuit court concluded that the evidence was sufficient and
therefore denied DeLain’s post-conviction motion on this ground, and
the Court of Appeals affirmed.
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" (Brown County Case No. 01-CF-624)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
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Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In early 2001, Michael DeLain was a successful psychologist
whose 11-year Green Bay area practice focused on helping young
people with emotional problems (R104:113-15). Jennifer Ford was a
stubborn 16-year old having problems with rules and authority, most
specifically her father, and with her adult boyfriend, David (R103:97,
100-03, 106; R104:4; R105:5-6). Following a blow-up with her father,
and on the recommendation of one of DeLain’s teenaged female
patients, Ford sought counseling from him in April, 2001, to address
her relationship problems with her father and David (R103:101-03,
106-08; R104:7-8, 123).

Ford met with DeLain three times for therapy sessions in early
April (R103:114-120). After the fourth session on April 25, 2001, she
told David, and then her family, that DeLain had sexually assaulted her



during the session that day and that she did not want to see him any
more (R103:144-45; R104:9).! Ford and her parents went to the police
that evening, and it was suggested that she return for another meeting
with DeLain to secretly videotape him for the police (R103:147-48,;
R104:10-11, 15-16). She did so on May 2, 2001, and that session was
both video and audio recorded (R103:162-65, 205-14; R104:15-18;
R38:Exhs. 6-8).

Dr. DeLain subsequently was charged with two counts of sexual
abuse by a therapist (Count 1 for April 25 and Count 3 for May 2), Wis.
Stat. §940.22(2), one count of sexual intercourse with a child 16 or
older on April 25, Wis. Stat. §948.09 (Count 2), and one count of
obstructing, Wis. Stat. §946.41(1), based on his denial to police of foot-
to-foot contact with Ford on May 2, 2001 (Count 4). (R6).

The case ultimately proceeded to a jury trial on March 5, 2002,
the Hon. Richard J. Dietz, Circuit Judge, presiding (R103-R105).

At trial, Ford claimed that, during her April 25, 2001 session
with DeLain, they talked primarily about David and problems in her
sexual relationship with him (R103:125). She stated that her back was
sunburned and DeLain rubbed her back and sides, and subsequently
lifted her leg and ran his hand up her pant-leg. She continued talking
about David and DeLain removed his hand. (R103:126-27, 131-33,
135-36). She claimed DeLain later again slid his hand up her pant-leg
and rubbed her inner thigh, although she could not remember if either
of them said anything, or how this contact ended. Although feeling
uncomfortable, she then continued talking with DeLain about David.
(R103:136-37).

Ford claimed that DeLain then asked her to sit on his lap and

1

... So I went and [ woke my mom up and I just told her that 1
never wanted to see him again and she asked me why and 1 told her
I wouldn’t tell her, It was none of her business. I just didn’t
wanna see ‘em again.”

(R103:144).



said he always wanted to have sex with her. She claimed he started

rubbing her crotch, lifted her shirt and kissed her stomach, and then put
his hand inside her underwear, rubbed her crotch, put a finger into her

vagina, and said he could make her come in less than five minutes.
(R103:138-40). She said he then removed his hand, spread her legs,
and started thrusting against her. She also claimed that, at some point,
he pretended to perform oral sex but outside her pants. (R103:140-41).
She also claimed that, when she later got up to leave, he asked what
color her thong was, stuck his hand down the back of her pants, and
grabbed her behind (R103:142).

Ford conceded that she was sexually intimate with David and
that she might have mentioned that David was an adult (R103:160-61,
167). However, she claimed that DeLain never said he had to report
David as a consequence (R103:160-61, 188-90).

Regarding the May 2, 2001, session/investigation, Ford claimed
that DeLain “grabbed” her buttocks once as she walked past him
(103:150, 156-57). However, she admitted that she might have told the
police that DeLain had “pinched” rather than “grabbed” her (R103:192-
93).

Detective Walter Brzoza testified that Ford told him that DeLain
had “pinched,” not “grabbed,” her buttocks on May 2 (R104:36-37).
He also testified that, during an interview on June 7, 2001, DeLain
denied touching Ford sexually (R104:20, 46). DeLain stated his belief
that, due to a physical problem, he could not have lifted Ford’s foot
with his own (R104:28, 46-48, 68).

Officer Angela Cali also discussed the May 2, 2001 investiga-
tion involving Ford, and testified that, after that session, Ford told her
that DeLain “pinched my ass or was reaching forit...” (R104:79).

The video and audio tapes of May 2, 2001 were played for the
jury (R104:73-75; R38:Exhs 6-8). They show good-natured banter and
teasing between Ford and DeLain, and that Ford promptly raised the
fact that she and David had had sex in the woods, that it was painful
for her and that David became “all bucky” when she had him stop.



They further show DeLain attempting to convince her that she was
being used by David and deserved better. Neither Ford nor DeLain
made any express reference to the supposed sexual activity of the
preceding session. The tape at one point reflects DeLain moving
Ford’s foot with his own.

Also, while the tape reflects that, at one point Ford walks past
DeLain and announces “Don’t touch my ass,” it does not show any
actual physical contact. It does reflect, however, that DeLain immed;i-
ately responded that he did not, and that Ford did not dispute that
denial.

Dr. Michael DeLain testified that he received his Ph.D. in
clinical psychology in 1990 and had a full-time clinical practice focused
primarily on helping children and adolescents (R104:108-15; R105:2-
3). He explained the need to speak to kids in language they will both
understand and accept, and that one of the therapeutic techniques he
uses, and which he used with Ford, was originated by Frank Farrelly
and is known as “provocative therapy” (R104:113-22; R105:75). He
explained that technique as involving the counselor provoking the
patient to defend himself against his own negative feelings and solve
his own problems (R104:120-21).

DeLain explained Ford’s diagnosis as oppositional/defiant
disorder, meaning that she has problems with rules and authority,
possibly with depression (R105:5-6). He described his meetings with
Ford, how all the sessions included discussions of her one-way
relationship with David and her poor self-esteem, and how DeLain
sought to convince her that she deserved better. Regarding the April 25
session, he explained that, in response to Ford’s boasting of having sex
with David in a church, DeLain responded that David was not being
good to her and she should stop debasing herself. (R104:124-44, 148-
50).

At the end of that session, Ford disclosed that David was an
adult. When DeLain responded that he would have to report David,
Ford became very angry, stated that he could not take her love from her,
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and threatened to claim that DeLain molested her. She then claimed
that David in fact was only 16 and stormed out of the room.
(R104:151-52). About a week later, DelLain verified that David in fact
was over 18 (R105:89-90).

DeLain denied any sexual contact with Ford, and demonstrated
that placing his arm in the pant-leg as she claimed would have been
virtually impossible. (R104:145-48, 197-98). He did not touch her
buttocks, and thought she was joking when she said not to during the
May 2, 2001 session (R104:187-88).

DeLain also explained the counseling and rapport-building
techniques he used as shown on the May 2 videotape, and how he
became frustrated with Ford’s failure to respond to therapy that day
(R104:154-65, 172-86, 189-93).

DeLain also explained that he suffered from plantar fascitis, that
it is painful, and that he did not intend to mislead Brzoza about whether
he had contact with Ford’s foot a month earlier. (R104:194-97).

DeLain did not learn that the May 2 session was videotaped until
about a week later (R104:177-78; R105:106).

On cross-examination, the state sought to portray the facts in
DeLain’s account and his corroborating patient chart as having been
fabricated after he learned that the May 2, 2001, session had been
recorded (R105:11-12, 60; see id.:178).

Social Services employees verified that DeLain did contact them
about Ford on May 3, 2001, but was unable to finish the conversation
at that time, and that he called again on May 10, 2001, to report that
Ford was a minor having sex with an adult named David (R104:83-86,
89-91). A number of witnesses also testified to DeLain’s non-
exploitive character (R105:91-128).

The parties stipulated that DeLain’s activities on the May 2
video constituted “psychotherapy.” (R104:103-05; R105:154-55).

Inrebuttal, Dr. James Armentrout testified that, although he was
not familiar with provocative therapy and disagreed with certain
discussions in Farrelly’s book on the subject, certain staiements by
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DeLain on the videotape were professionally unacceptable or inappro-
priate (R105:133-142).

The prosecutor used this testimony, and appeals to the jury’s
“gut feelings” to argue at length in closing that DeLain’s actions on the
tape were aimed at his own titillation rather than appropriate therapy
(R105:189-99, 238-39, 242-44)

On March 7, 2002, the jury returned verdicts acquitting DeLain
of the sexual intercourse charge but convicting him on the remaining
counts (R43; R105:255-56).

On May 14, 2002, the Court sentenced Del.ain to 7 years on
Count 1 (2 years incarceration and 5 years supervision), and 6 months
concurrent incarceration on Count 4. The Court withheld sentence on
Count 3, imposed a consecutive term of 4 years probation on that count,
and entered judgment. (R50-R52; R106:33-36; App. 13-16).

DeLain’s post-conviction motion sought an order vacating his
conviction on the grounds, among others, that he was denied the
effective assistance of his trial counsel, Steven M. Glynn. Specifically,
trial counsel (1) failed to investigate and call Valerie DeLain and Kristi
Kovacs, witnesses to statements consistent with DeLain’s trial
testimony and made by him prior to the motive to fabricate alleged by
the state, and (2) failed to investigate and call Frank Farrelly, the
originator of “provocative therapy,” who could attest to the appropriate-
ness of DeLain’s therapy techniques as shown on the May 2, 2001
videotape. The absence of the same witnesses, and other errors,
likewise formed the basis for a claim of reversal in the interests of
justice. (R59-R60).

The motion also sought vacation of the conviction under Count
3 regarding the May 2, 2001 session and dismissal of that count on
insufficiency grounds (R59:2-4). |

Following briefing (R71;R77; R78), and three separate hearings
(R107; R108; R114), the circuit court, Hon. Richard J. Dietz, presiding,
denied DeLain’s motion on April 15, 2003 (R86; R108:48-56;
R107:96-102; App. 17-35).



By decision entered March 23, 2004, the Court of Appeals
affirmed (App. 1-12). State v. DeLain, 2004 W1 App 79, 679 N.W.2d
562.

In denying DeLain’s sufficiency claim, the Court of Appeals
chose not to address the issues as briefed by the parties. Although
accepting that Ford merely “feigned her role as a patient at the last
session,” the Court of Appeals nonetheless held that DeLain’s belief
that she was a patient was sufficient for conviction. (App. 5-6). It
deemed unnecessary evidence that Ford was in fact DeLain’s patient or
client at the time of the alleged assault:

910. Both parties have overlooked the fact that Wis. Stat.
§ 940.22(2) proscribes therapists from "intentionally"
having sexual contact with a patient orclient during any
ongoing therapist-patient relationship. Intentionally is a
term of art when used in criminal statutes, see Wis. Stat.
§ 939.23(1), and is defined as "mean[ing] that the actor
either has a purpose to do the thing or cause the result
specified, or is aware that his or her conduct is practically
certain to cause that result." Wis. Stat. § 939.23(3). The
definition further provides that "the actor must have
knowledge of those facts which are necessary to make
his or her conduct criminal and which are set forth after
the word “intentionally.™ Id. (emphasis added).

f11. In Wis. Stat. § 940.22(2), the words "patient" and
"ongoing therapist-patient ... relationship”" follow the
word "intentionally." Thus, in order for DeLain to have
committed the crime, he must have known two facts: (1)
that Jennifer F. was a "patient" and (2) that he and
Jennifer F. had an "ongoing therapist-patient relation-
ship." But to "know" these facts for purposes of the
criminal code "requires only that the actor believes that
the specified fact exists." Wis. Stat. § 939.23(2) (empha-
sis added).

912. Therefore, we reject Delain's argument that it was

not enough for the State to prove he believed Jennifer F.
was a patient and that he believed the last session was

-



part of the continued therapist-patient relationship. At
trial, DeLain stipulated that he was performing psycho-
therapy at all his sessions with Jennifer. It is also undis-
puted that at these sessions, DeLain believed Jennifer
was a patient and believed these sessions were part of an
ongoing therapist-patient relationship. Thus, even though
Jennifer feigned her role as a patient at the last session,
because the undisputed evidence is that DeLain believed
the specific fact existed, namely that Jennifer was a
patient and this was part of the ongoing therapist-patient
relationship, any acts that occurred during this session
were during an ongoing therapist-patient relationship as
those terms are used in the statute. Consequently, we are
satisfied the evidence is sufficient to sustain the convic-
tion for sexual exploitation of a patient by a therapist that
occurred on May 2.

(App. 5-6).
ARGUMENT

BECAUSE THERE WAS NO THERAPIST-PATIENT
RELATIONSHIP AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED
OFFENSE, THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT
FOR CONVICTION UNDER COUNT 3

The evidence establishes that the complainant had withdrawn
from any therapist-patient relationship with DeLain prior to the session
on May 2, 2001, and was no longer his “patient or client” at that time.
Rather, having decided and announced that she never wanted to see him
again (R103:144-45; R104:9), she participated in that session, not for
purposes of therapy, but purely as a police agent attempting to
corroborate her allegations of prior sexual misconduct by Dr. DeLain.

For conviction under Wis. Stat. §940.22(2), the state must prove
an actual therapist/patient relationship; a “feigned” or “therapist/police
agent” relationship is insufficient. The state accordingly failed to prove
an essential element of the offense alleged in Court 3.



A.  Applicable Legal Principles

The burden in a criminal case is on the state to prove every fact
necessary for conviction of the crime charged beyond a reasonable
doubt. E.g., Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); In re Winship,
397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). “The standard for reviewing the sufficiency
of the evidence to support a conviction is whether, after viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational
trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime
beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Rushing, 197 Wis.2d 631, 541
N.W.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 1995){citing Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319); see
State v. Hayes, 2004 W1 80, §56, 681 N.W.2d 203.

Of course, the Court “cannot affirm a criminal conviction on the
basis of a theory not presented to the jury.” Chiarella v. United States,
4451.8.222,236(1980). The Court thus can uphold a conviction only
if the evidence at trial was sufficient to convict on the theory actually
presented to the jury. State v. Wulff, 207 Wis.2d 144, 557 N.W.2d 813,
817 (1997).

This Court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence
necessary to support a verdict de novo. State v. Wanta, 224 Wis.2d
679, 592 N.W.2d 645, 650 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted).

B. Conviction Under Wis. Stat. §940.22(2) Requires
Proof of an Actual, Ongoing Therapist-Patient
Relationship, Not Merely a Feigned Relationship.

Wis. Stat. §940.22(2), defining the offense of sexual exploitation
by a therapist, provides:

Any person who is or who holds himself or herself
out to be a therapist and who intentionally has sexual
contact with a patient or client during any ongoing
therapist-patient or therapist-client relationship, regard-
less of whether it occurs during any treatment, consulta-
tion, interview or examination, is guilty of a Class C
felony. Consent is not an issue in an action under this
subsection.

-9-



An essential element of the offense of sexual exploitation by a
therapist thus is that the alleged sexual contact takes place “during any
ongoing therapist-patient or therapist-client relationship.” See State v.
Ambrose, 196 Wis.2d 768, 540 N.W.2d 208, 209 (Ct. App. 1995)
(proof of “professional therapist-patient/client relationship” required;
counseling within teacher-student relationship insufficient); Wis.
J.I—Crim. 1248. The jury in this case was so instructed (R105:159-
61). The plain language of the statute further requires that the sexual
contact be “with a patient or client .” Wis. Stat. §940.22(2).

As demonstrated both by the statutory requirement that the
sexual contact be with a patient or client, a “relationship” is a two-way
street; there must be both a therapist (or someone “who holds himself
or herself out to be a therapist™) and a patient or client. See, e.g., Ande
v. Rock, 2002 WI App 136, 910, 256 Wis.2d 365, 647 N.W.2d 265 (“A
physician-patient relationship is a trust relationship, created when
professional services are provided by a physician and accepted by a
patient” (citation omitted)), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1107 (2003). If
either does not exist, as when someone merely poses as a patient and
does not in fact seek treatment, there can be no “ongoing therapist-
patient . . . relationship” and thus no completed crime of sexual
exploitation by a therapist.

That sexual exploitation by a therapist cannot be committed
against someone merely posing as a patient or client is further demon-
strated by the statute’s express reference to actions, not only of
someone who actually is a therapist, but also to anyone “who holds
himself or herself out to be a therapist.” Wis. Stat. §940.22(2). The
Legislature thus knew the difference between what is actual and what
is feigned and how to express when it intended to cover both. The
Legislature’s failure to include parallel language in the statute extend-
ing its coverage to actions against those who merely hold themselves
out to be patients or clients thus must have been intentional.

The statutory purpose of protecting patients from being
influenced by predatory therapists does not justify reading such

-10-



language into the statute. The risk of such influence is absent if the
alleged victim is not in fact a patient or client of the defendant.? The
purpose is even less served if the alleged victim is a police agent rather
than a patient.

Also, the fact that §940.22(2) does not apply when the supposed
victim merely poses as a patient does not immunize a therapist’s sexual
contact from criminal liability. Regardless whether the alleged victim
is in fact a patient, any unconsented to sexual contact may be charged
as fourth degree sexual assault under Wis. Stat. §940.225(3m). If the
defendant in fact believed mistakenly that the person was a patient or
client, moreover, a charge of attempted sexual exploitation by a
therapist may be appropriate. Cf. State v. Damms, 9 Wis.2d 183, 100
N.W.2d 592 (1960) (defendant guilty of attempted murder where he
attempted to shoot another with a gun he mistakenly believed to be
loaded). Any rational purpose for the sexual exploitation statute
accordingly is fully accomplished without the type of judicial legisla-
tion necessary to amend §940.22(2) to cover acts against non-patients.

While the statute is plain on its face, the Court of Appeals
nonetheless asserts that an actual, ongoing therapist-patient relationship
is not required for conviction. Rather, it held that a therapist’s mistaken

- belief that the person is a patient and that there is an ongoing therapist-
patient relationship is sufficient to render any sexual contact *sexual
exploitation by a therapist” under §940.22(2). The Court of Appeals is

2 While some concern for continuing influence may exist following

termination of a therapist-patient relationship, it does not follow that post-
termination sexual contact between a therapist and a former patient is covered by
§940.22(2). Rather, the Legislature apparently deemed such post-termination
sexual contact to be adequately covered by civil liability.  Compare Wis. Stat.
§940.22(2) (requiring that the sexual contact be “during any ongoing therapist-
patient or therapist-client relationship™) with Wis. Stat. §895.70(2) (granting a civil
cause of action for any person who suffers injury as a result of “sexual contact with
a therapist who is rendering or has rendered [therapy] to that person™). The
difference in language and resulting difference in application between these statutes
must be presumed to have been intentional as Section 895.70(2) was created at the
same time that the Legislature added the “ongoing therapist-patient. . . relationship”
fanguage to §940.22(2). See 1985 Wis. Act 275.
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wrong.

The Court of Appeals’ theory is that the therapist’s belief in an
ongoing therapist-patient relationship, although mistaken, satisfies the
“knowledge” requirement for proof of intent under Wis. Stat.
§939.23(3) and therefore renders proof of an actual, ongoing therapist-
patient relationship unnecessary (App. 5-6). According to that court,

even though Jennifer feigned her role as a patient at the
last session, because the undisputed evidence is that
DeLain believed the specific fact existed, namely that
Jennifer was a patient and this was a part of the ongoing
therapist-patient relationship, any acts that occurred
during this session were during an ongoing therapist-
patient as those terms are used in the statute.

(App. 5-6). The Court of Appeals’ theory that “believing it makes it
so,” however, is supported by neither law nor common sense.

That court is correct that, to act intentionally, as required by
§940.22(2), the defendant “‘must have knowledge of those facts which
are necessary to make his or her conduct criminal and which are set
forth after the word “intentionally,””” (App. 5 (emphasis in original),
quoting Wis. Stat. §939.23(3)), and that “to ‘know’ these facts for
purposes of the criminal code ‘requires only that the actor believes that
the specified fact exists” (id. (emphasis in original), quoting Wis. Stat.
§939.23(2)).

A mistaken view of the facts, however, only affects the mens rea

233

element of the offense. A person, for instance, may intend to kill
someone they believe to be alive, even though the victim is already
dead. Similarly, someone may intend to receive property he believes
to be stolen, even though in fact it is not. However, the defendant’s
mistaken belief under those circumstances neither brings the prospec-
tive victim back to life nor transforms property which has not been
stolen into stolen property. People v. Dlugash, 41 N.Y.2d 725, 395
N.Y.S.2d 419, 363 N.E.2d 1155 (1977) (shooting a corpse is not
murder, but attempted murder if the defendant had an intent to kill and
believed that the intended victim was alive); State v. Kordas, 191
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Wis.2d 124, 528 N.W.2d 483, 485 (Ct. App. 1995) (mistaken belief
property stolen supports attempt to recetve stolen property, but not
completed offense). Similarly, a therapist’s mistaken belief that a
government agent posing as a patient is in fact a patient does not make
it s0.

The Court of Appeals appears to confuse the elements for an
attempt to commit a crime with those necessary for the completed
offense. Pursuant to Wis. Stat, §939.32(3),

[a]n attempt to commit a crime requires that the actor
have an intent to perform acts and attain a result which,
ifaccomplished, would constitute such crime and that the
actor does acts toward the commission of the crime
which demonstrate unequivocally, under all the circum-
stances, that the actor formed that intent and would
commit the crime except for the intervention of another
person or some other extraneous factor.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals’ apparent belief, the fact that
the defendant mistakenly believes facts which, if true, would render his
acts a violation of law does not relieve the state of its obligation to
prove all elements necessary for the completed offense. The defen-
dant’s mere belief that certain facts exist does not make them true.
Accordingly, the defendant’s mistaken belief at most would support a
conviction for attempt, assuming that jury was instructed on that option.

In Kordas, for instance, the Court of Appeals held that the
defendant’s mistaken belief that property was stolen would not support
conviction for the completed offense of receiving stolen property,
although it would support conviction for an atfempt to commit that
offense. 528 N.W.2d at 485. Similarly, this Court in State v. Robins,
2002 WI 65, 1927-28, 253 Wis.2d 298, 646 N.W.2d 287, cert. denied,
537 U.S. 1003 (2002), held that the defendant’s belief that the
individual he solicited over the Internet for sex was only 13 years old,
when in fact he was a 42-year-old Department of Justice agent, would
not justify conviction for the completed act of child enticement under
Wis. Stat. §948.07, although it would support conviction for attempt.

-13-



See also State v. Koenck, 2001 WI App 93, 28, 242 Wis.2d 693, 626
N.W.2d 359 (“We conclude that the fictitiousness of the girls consti-
tuted an extraneous factor beyond Koenck’s control that prevented him
from successfully enticing a child for the express purpose of sexual
intercourse or contact”).

The Court of Appeals’ analysis accordingly is incorrect. The
completed offense of sexual exploitation by a therapist requires an
actual, ongoing therapist-patient relationship and sexual contact with
an actual, not feigned, patient.

C. Because Ford Did Not Attend the May 2, 2001 Session
as a Patient for Purposes of Treatment, but Only to
Obtain Evidence for the Police, the Evidence Is
Insufficient to Prove the Necessary Element That the
Alleged Assault Occurred During an “Ongoing
Therapist-patient or Therapist-client Relationship.”

The evidence on Count 3, viewed in a light most favorably
toward the prosecution, showed that, on April 25, 2001, Jennifer Ford
reported to her parents that she had been sexually assaulted by Dr.
DeLain and that she never wanted to see him again. They went to the
police and apparently determined that additional evidence was
necessary. They accordingly agreed that she should return for another
session with DeLain. Rather than returning for therapy, however, she
would only pretend to be there for therapy while her true purpose was
to tape their conversation in the hopes that it would produce evidence
supporting a prosecution. The officers viewed her as their agent rather
than a patient, cautioning her not to entrap DeLain (R104:67, 69).

DeLain does not dispute either that he was a professional
therapist or that the conversations during his sessions with Ford
constituted “therapy.” He so stipulated at trial. (R105:154-55). The
evidence viewed most favorably to the state, however, indeed the
undisputed evidence, establishes that any therapist-patient relationship
between Ford and DeLain ended with her allegations to the police on
April 25-26, 2001.

-14-



“A physician-patient relationship is a trust relationship, created
when professional services are provided by a physician and accepted by
a patient.” Ande v. Rock, 2002 WI App 136, 10, 256 Wis.2d 365, 647
N.W.2d 265 (citation omitted). Such a relationship thus requires the
consent of both parties. E.g., Bovara v. St. Francis Hospital, 700
N.E.2d 143, 146 (111 App. 1998) (“The physician-patient relationship is
a consensual relationship in which the patient knowingly seeks the
physician's assistance and in which the physician knowingly accepts the
person as a patient ).

The relationship may be terminated, infer alia, by mutual
consent of the parties, or by the unilateral action of the patient. E.g.,
Lyons v. Grether, 239 S.E.2d 103, 106 (Va 1977). Termination may
occur either expressly or when the patient takes actions inconsistent
with the consent necessary to a continuing physician-patient relation-
ship, such as by the initiation of legal action against the physician. E.g.,
Toxey v. State of New York, 279 A.D.2d 927, 719 N.Y.S.2d 765, 766
(App. Div. 2001).

A “relationship” thus is a two-way street; there must be both a
therapist and a patient, and both must consent to the continuing
therapist-relationship. While DeLain no doubt was acting profession-
ally as a therapist during the May 2 session, Ford was there, not as a
patient, but solely as an agent of the police. Her actions in going to the
police to initiate legal action against Del.ain were wholly inconsistent
with any intent to continue the therapist-patient relationship with
DeLain, and thus demonstrated her unilateral withdrawal from the
therapist-patient relationship. Indeed, she expressly told David and her
mother a week before the May 2 session that she never wanted to see
DeLain again (R103:144-45; R104:9). She was not present at the May
2 session for treatment, but only to obtain evidence for a possible
criminal prosecution. (See R105:188). Having withdrawn her own
consent to treatment, she no longer could be considered DeLain’s
patient at the time of the May 2, 2001 session.

Because the evidence accordingly was insufficient to establish

-15-



a necessary element of the offense charged in Count 3, the conviction
and sentence under that count must be vacated and that count dis-
missed. See, e.g., Wulff, 557 N.W.2d at 818; Ambrose, supra (reversing
conviction for sexual exploitation by therapist where teacher was not
in professional therapist-patient relationship with student).

Even if the Court of Appeals had not erred in its analysis,
moreover, the conviction cannot be upheld on its theory that the
defendant’s belief is enough. The jury instructions here required both
intent or belief and an “ongoing,” i.e., actual, therapist-patient
relationship (R105:159-61). The jury was not instructed on the Court
of Appeals’ new theory, nor on a theory of attempt. The conviction
accordingly cannot be sustained on such grounds. E.g., Chiarella, 445
U.S. at 236; Wulff, 557 N.W.2d at §17.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Dr. DelLain asks that the Court reverse his
conviction under Count 3 and order that count dismissed.
Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, July 6, 2004.
Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL A. DELAIN,
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner
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STATE OF WISCONSIN,
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V.
MICHAEL A. DELAIN,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT,

APPEAL from a judgment and an order of the circuit dourt' for
Brown County: RICHARD J. DIETZ, Judge. Affirmed.

Before Cane, C.J., Hoover, P.J., and Peterson, J.

11 CANE, C.J. Michael DeLain appeals from a judgment of
conviction after a jury trial for two counts of sexual exploitation of a patient bya
therapist and one count of obstructing justice and from an order denjzing
postconv1ct10n relief. He raises four arguments: (1) there is insufficient evidence

" to sustain one of the counts of sexual abuse by a therapist; (2) his trial counsel was
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ineffective; (3) the prosecutor’s “golden rule” argument in closing mandates anew
trial; and (4) a new trial is warranted because the real controversy has not been

fully tried or justice has miscarried. We affirm the judgment and the order.
~ BACKGROUND

ﬂZ . DeLain was a‘psychol'ogis‘t in Green Bay whose eleven-year practice
focused on helping young people w1th emotional problems. _Jennifer F., a sixteen-
year-old child, sought- counseling from DeLain to address relationship prleems
with her father and her adult boyfri'eﬁd. DeLain met With Jennifer four times in
April 2001. After the fourth session, on April 25, Jenﬁifer told her bdyfi'iend and
her family that DeLain sexually assaulted her and she no longer wanted to see
him. Jennifer and her parents went to the police, who suggested that Jennifer
return to another counseling session while she secretly wore a wire. On May 2,

she did so and that session was both video and audio recorded.

13 The State charged DeLain with four crimes: two counts of sexual |
abuse by a therapist on April 25 and May 2, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 940.22(2);!
one count of sexual intercourse with a child- age sixteen or older on April 25,
contrary to WIS. STAT. § 948.09; and one count of obstructing justice, éontrary to
WIS, STAT. § 946.41(1). At trial, Jennifer recounted the numerous sexual contacts
DeLain had with her during the April 25 and May 2 sessions. DeLain’s defense
was that Jennifer fabricated the allegations because ,_DeLalin indicated he was
required to report that she was ‘having sexual relations with an adult to the

authorities.

' All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 1999-2000 version unless otherwise
noted, ‘ : : '

IﬂPI
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94  The jury largeiy believed Jennifer F. and convicted DeLain of both
counts of sexnal abuse bya therapist as wel-l as the obstruction of ljustice charge,
" but acquitted him of the sexual intercourse with a child sixteen or older charge.
After sentencing, DeLain filed a motion for postconviction relief seeking an order

vacating his convictions. He appeals'the denial of that motion.
DISCUSSION
I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE ON COUNT I

75 DeLain first argues there was insufficient evidence fo prove he haci
sexual contact with Jennifer F. on May 2, contrary to WIs. STAT. §940;22(2).
Section 940.22(2) states:

Any person. who is or who holds himself or herself out to
be a therapist and who intentionally has sexual contact with
a patient or client during any ongoing therapist-patient or
therapist-client relationship, regardless of whether it occurs
during any treatment, consultation, interview or
examma‘uon, is guilty of a Class C felony Consent is not
an issue in an action under this subsection. (Emphasis

added.)

16 | He claims that because Jenmifer F. was at the May 2 counseling
session at law enforcement s request, the statutorily required “ongoing therapist-
patlent -. relationship” no longer existed. See id.. He contrasts a genuine |
relationship from that of a “feigned relationship,” noting the latter is what was
present on May 2. DeLaln argues it is not enough that he merely beh'eved this
relationship continued because “a ‘relationship’ is a two-way street.” Thus, he
reasons, because Jehnifer F. was present not as a patient but as an agent of the

police, the State cannot prove there was an ongoing therapist-patient relationship.
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7 DeLain also supports his argument by referencing federal consp1racy
law. DeLam observes a conspiracy requires an agreement between two or more
people to cormmt an unlawful act. See, e.g., United States v. Mahkimetas, 991
F.2d 379, 383 (7th Cir. 1993). Thus, “there is no real agreement when ore

consplres to break the law only with government agents or informants,” Id.
DeLain observes it is undlsputed that Jennifer F. attended the May 2 counsehng
session as a pohce agent hoplng to obtain incriminating evidence. Therefore, he

argues the theraplst-patrent relationship no longer existed.

- 98 " The State counters with three arguments. First, it argues the statute
should be construed to extend the reletionship as a matter of law until one of the
parties explicitly advises the other that the relationship has ended The State
claims that to conclude otherwise would 1mpede the statute’s purpose of pumshmg
theraprsts who do not abstain from sexual contact with patients. Second, because
the statute prov1des that “[c]onsent is mot an issue in an action under this
subsection;” and because the statute does not require the sexual contact to occur
during “treatment-, consultation, interview or examination,” the State argues the
statute is effeotively a strict-liability crime. Third, ‘the State argues DeLam s
rellance on federal conspiracy law is misplaced because Wisconsin allows for a '

unllateral conspxracy,” that i 1S, a consplracy where two people agree to commit an
: unlawful act but one of those persons, cooperating with law enforcement ofﬁcers,
feigns agreement. See State v. Sample, 215 Wis. 2d 487, 500, 573 N.W.2d 187
(1998). - -

99  Thus, the State claims a consplracy analogy actually supports its
position. In any event, the State argues the evidence is sufficient to sustain the
conviction on any of these grounds We agree with the State that there is

sufficient ev1dence to sustain the conviction, but do so for a different reason.

Y B B
. App. 4
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Y10  Both parties have overlooked the fact that Wis. STAT. § 940 22(2)

proscribes theraplsts from “mtentlonally” havmg sexual contact with a patient or
client during any ongoing therapist-patient telationship. Intentionally is a term of
art when used in criminal statutes, see WIS.. STAT. § 939.23(1), and is deftned as
“mean[ing] that the actor either has a purpose to do tho thing or cause the result’
speoiﬁed, or is aware that his or her conduct is practically certain to cause that
result.” WIS. STAT. § 939.23(3). The definition further provideé that “the actor

must have kno.wledge of those facts which are necessary to make his or her

* - .conduct criminal and which are set forth after the word ‘intentionally.”” Id.

(emphasis added).

711 In Wis. STAT. §940.22(2), the words “patient” and “ongoing
therapist-patient ... relationship” follow the- word “intentionally.” Thus, in order.
for DeLain to have committed the crime, he must have known two facts: (1) that
Jennifer F. was a “patient” and (2) that he and Jennifer F. had an “ongoing

therapist-patient relationship 7 But' to “know” these facts for puqﬁoses of the
| criminal code “requires only that the actor believes that the speczf ed fact exists.”

WIS. STAT. § 939.23(2) (emphasis added)

912 Therefore, we reject DeLam s argument that it was not enough for -
the State to prove he believed Jennifer F. was a patient and that he believed the
last session was part of the continued therapist-patient relationship. At tria],
DeLain stipulated that he was performing psychotherapy at all his sessions with
Jennifer. It is also undisputed that at these sessions, DeLain believed Jennifer was
a patient and believed these sessions were part of an ongoing therapist-patient
relationship. Thus, even though Jennifer feigned her role as a patient at the last
session, because the undisputed evidence is that DeLain believed the specific fact

- existed, namely that Jennifer was a patient and this was part of the ongoing

I R
" App. 5 —
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therapist-patient relationship, any acts that occurred during this session were
during an ongoing therapist-patient relationship as those terms are used in the
statute. Consecjuently, we are satisfied the evidence is sufficient to sustain the

conviction for sexual exploitation of a patient by a therapist.
1I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

1[13 - DeLain next claims he was denied effective assistaﬁce of counsel.
“To prevall on an 1neffcct1ve assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show
that counsel’s actions or inaction constltuted deﬁc1ent performance and that the
| deficiency caused him prejudice.”  State v. Brunette, 220 Wis. 2d 431, 445, 583
N.W.2d 174 (Ct. App. 1998). “Counsel’s conduct is constitutionally deficient if it
falls bellow an objective standard of reasonableness.” State v. Thiel, 2003 W1 111,
19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.-W.2d 305. To prove prejudice, the defendant must
show that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional
errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable
probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”

Id., 920 (citation omitted.)

- Y14 We are highly deferential to counsel’s performance and “must avoid
the “distorting effects of hindsight.”” Id., §19 (citation omitted.) We are also
guided by the principle that counsel’s performance “need not be perfect, indeed

not even very good, to be conistitutionally adequate.” Id.

115 A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed
questlon of law and fact. Id. » 121. We uphold the circuit court’s findings of fact
. unless they are clearly erroncous. Id. Findings of fact include “the circumstances
of the case and the counsel’s con&uct and strategy.” Id. Whether counsel’s

performance is constitutionally ineffective is a question of Iaw we review de novo.

I I B
. App. 6 ~
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Id. DeLain has not contested any material findings of fact. Thus, we turn to

whether his counsel was constitutionally ineffective.

- 16  DeLain claims his counsel was constitutionally deficient on two
grounds: ﬁrsf, counsel failed to properly investigate and present evidence  of
exculpatory prior consistent statements DeLain made to co-workers; second,
counsel failed to investigate and present expert ev1dence regarding the

appropnateness of DeLain’s therapy techmques

17 As to the first ground, DeLain claims his cbunsel’s failure to
investigate witnesses who could corroborate his defense—that Jennifer F.
fabricated the allegation because DeLain was going to report her to social services
for haviﬁg sex with an adult—was unreasonable. DeLain .proints .out that his
_therapy notes for April 25, 2001, tndicated he coﬁsulted with Dr. Valerie DeLain
(DeLam s ex-wife who is a clinical psychologlst) and Kristi Kovacs (a drug and
alcohol counselor DeLain worked with prevmusly) At the Machner hearing,’
~ Valerie testified this consultation mvolved DeLain teliing her how Jennifer F.
threatened to accuse him' of molestmg her if he reported her sexual relationship
with her adult boyfriend to authorities. Kovacs also testified to a similar
conversation she had with DeLain. DeLain’s counsel, however, did not present
this evidence at trial because he never interviewed either of these witnesses
regarding the consultation. Without producing these prior consistent statements at

-~ trial, DeLain claims his counsel performed deficiently.

* State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

I R
. App. 7 -
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- 118 DQLain’s counsel testified that DeLain never revealed to him what -

he told Valerie or Kovacs, let alone that they could confirm Jennifer F.’s threats.
In fact, the only thing DeLain told his counsel was that he told his co-workers and
Kovacs he had a weird, strange, or odd session with Jennifer. He never told
counsel there were witnesses who could confirm, through his prior statements,
Jennifer’s threats. DeLain’s counsel interviewed all of DeLain’s co-workers,
which inciuded Valerie, for a total of nearly eight hours. At no point did DeLain’s
counsel receivé any ‘intimation that these people had any relevant information
~ regarding the allegations. In hindsight, it could be argued DeLain’s counsel may
have explored this area more, but when all his client told him was that he had a

strange or odd session, it is not unreasonable for counsel to assume there Woﬁld be

little else to explore. Counsel nevertheless investigated further, only to find little

‘helpful information. Under these éircumstance_s, DeLain’s trial counsel did not

perform deficiently.

919 .DeLain also claims his trial counsel was ineffective because he
failed to present expert evidence regarding the appropriateness of DeLain’s
therapy approach. DeLain utilizes “provocative therapy” in counseling youths.-3
DeLain observes his‘ counsel knew the jury could view DeLain’s provocative
therapy techniques as inappropriate. To combat the jury’s adverse emotional
reaction, DeLain argues it was incumbent on his counsel to produce independent
expert testimony to support the appropriateness of his therapy techniques. We

disagree.'

* It was undisputed at the postconviction proceedings that in provocative therapy, the
therapist uses humor both to sensitize and desensitize the client to problematic cognitive,
 affective, and behavioral patterns. This is the key to provocative therapy—humor, Jjocular,
whimsical, caring, supportive humor.

2 R S
App. 8 _
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1]20' DeLain’s counsel indicated his trial strategy was to avoid expert
., testimony as much as possible. Counsel indicated he was concerned how jurors
Would react to DeLain’s therapy techniques and did not want them to pass
judgment on his techniqués or decide the case on whether DeLain was a good
| psychologlst In fact, to prevent the State from offering expert testlmony in its
case—m-ch1ef Delain’s counsel stipulated that DeLain was engaged i_n,
“psychotherapy” dunng the relevant time periods. This was a reasonablé trial
sﬁategy. We will not “second-guess a trial attomey;s ‘considered selection of trial
tactics or the exercise of a'professional judgment in the face of alternatives that
have been weighed by trial counsel.” A strat\egic decision ratio'nally‘ based on the
facts and the. law will not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.”
AState v. Elm, 201 Wis. 2d 452, 564-65, 549 N.W.2d 471 (Ct. App 1996) (citations
ormtted)

21  But DeLain claims his counsel knew he was going to tesﬁfy and that
part of his testimony would relate to the appropriateness of his techmques thereby
opemng the door to the whole provecative therapy issue for the State to explore in
rebuttal. Therefore, DeLam argues his counsel should have had an expert ready to -

refute the State’s rebuttal expert.

922 Prior to trial, DelLain’s counsel .consulted with two forensic
psychologists. Both were troubled by what they saw of DeLain’s techniques on
the videotape but were of the opinion that DeLain was nonetheless performing
psychomerspy and was trying to help Jemnifer F. One of these witnesses
developed a scheduling conflict and was unavailable to testify at trial, but the other
was ready and able to testify. DeLain’s counsel indicated he did not use this
witness because he felt he did an effective job of impeaching the Sfate’s rebuttal

expert witness. On cross-examination, DeLain’s counsel showed the State’s

N R R
App. 9
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e)ipert had not taken any courses, received any tfaining, or read any literature on
provocative therapy. In light of this crosé—cxam_ination, we conclude DeLa;in’s _
counsel acted reasonably as part of his trial 'strategy by not calling an expert to
refute the State’s rebuttal expert. DeLain was not denied effectivé assistance of

counsel.-
III. “GOLDEN RULE” COMMENT

923 DeLain next claims the'prosecuto'_r’s use of a “golden rule” argument
dun'_ng his closing argument requires reversal. Generally, a golden rule argument
involves ésking the jurors to place themselves in the position of someone claiming
injury or damﬁge and asking the jurors to determine what they would want as
compensation. See Featherly v. Continental Ins. Co., 73 Wis. 2d 273, 284, 243
N.W.2d 806 (1976). In a criminal case, a golden rule argument ésks the jurors to
place themselves in the vicﬁm’s shoes. See Rodriguez v, Slattéry, 54 Wis. 2d '_165,
170, 194 N.W.2d 817 (1972). These statements are not allowed because they
appeal to the jurors’ sympathy for persons who have been injured or vicfiinized by

- acrime.

Y24 In closing, the prosecutor criticized one of DeLain’s defenses—that
Jennifer F.’s allegatlons were more consistent with fabrications in light of her poor

body image than with a true account of sexual assault—by statmg

Flnally, I'll end . on what I consider to be the most
ridiculous argument that I’ve heard in this case and it’s also
~ it’s sort of insulting, too, and that’s the breast argument.

. Are you gonna accept the notion that because [Jennifer F.]
doesn’t relate in her testimony any breast touching she
must be lying because she has a poor self-image about her
breasts and, therefore, wouldn’t say anything about breast
touching. Does that make any sense to you at afl. Is that
anything more than just a — a —a desperate attempt to — to —
to mislead you and to — to get you to think about anything
but the evidence in this case. How do you make that — how

I R
. App. 10



No. 03-1253-CR

do you rhmk that makes [Jennifer F] Sfeel sitting in the
courtroom listening to that. (Emphasis added.) :

DeLain argues this was an improper go]deﬁ rule érgument that so infected the trial
with unfaimess such that the conviction results in a denial of due process. See
State v. Lettice, 205 Wis. 2d 347, 352, 556 N.W.2d 376 (Ct. App. 1996). Thus,
he claims the trial court erred by failing to grant his motion to dlSI’l’llSS We
disagree.

925  The decision of whether to grant a motion fér a mistrial lies within
the trial court’s discretion. State v. Ross, 2003 WI App 27, Y47, 260 Wi's. 2d 291,
659 N.Ww.2d 122. "‘The trial court must determine, in light of the whole
proceeding, whether the claimed error was sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a
new trial.” Id. (citation omitted). “The denial of a motion for mistrial will bé
reversed only on a clear showing of an c'rroﬁeous use of discretion by the trial

court.” Id.

726  Following the State’s brief remark,.De'Lain’s counsel immediately -
objected and the p'rosecutor promptly withdrew the comment and apologized for
making the statement. In fact, the State later urged the jury to weigh its decision
solely on the evidence and to not be swayed by emotion. The circuit court later
instructed the jury to “not be swayed by sympathy, prejudice or passion. You will
be very careful and deliberate in weighing the evidence. I charge you to keep your
duty steadfastly in mind and as upright citizens to render a just and true verdict.”
Because of the isolated nature of lthe remark, the State’s immediate response, and
because juries are presumed to follow the instructions, State . Smith, 170 Wis. 2d
701, 719, 450 N.W.2d 40 (Ct. App. 1992), we concluée the trial court did not

erroncously exercise its discretion by denying the motion for a mistrial.
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IV. DISCRETIONARY REVERSAL

927 Lastly, DeLain argues lwe should éxercise our discretionary power of
reversal to grant him a new trial because the real controversy was not fully tried or
bécause justice has miscarried. See WIS. STAT. § 752.35. We exercise our power
of discretionary reversal in exceptional cases. Vollmer v. Luety, 156 Wis. 2d 1,
12-13, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). For this court to reverse on the theory that the |
matter has ndt been fully 'rried,.we need not determine whether the trial’s outcome
woﬁl‘d be different on retrial. Id. at 19. Instead, for there .-to be a miscarriage of
justice, “an appellate court must first make a finding of substantial probability of a

different result on retrial.” Id.

928  Under the circumstances of this case, we are not persuaded that the
real controversy has not been fully tried or that there is a substantial probabili_ty

there would be a different result on retrial.
By the Court—Judgment and order affirmed.

Not recommended for publication in the official reports.

N T B B
App. 12
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State vs Michael A Delain

Date.of Birth: 11-03-1962

Judgment of Conviction

Sentence fo Wisconsin State Prisons
- Case No.: 01CF000624

The defendant was found guilty of the following crime(s}:

Date{s}

. Dateis} Trial
Ct. Description Violation Plea Saverity Committed To Convicted -
1  Sexual Exploitation by Therapist 940.22(2) Not Guitty Felony C 04-25-2001 Jury 03—07-2002
IT 15 ADJUDGED that the defsndant is guilty as convicted and sentenced as follows:
ct. Sent. Date Sentence - Length l Concurrent with/Consecutive to/Comments. Agency
1 05-14-2002 State Prisons 2 YR defendant is not eligible for the Challenge DOC-
. Incarceration program,
1 05-14-2002 Extended Supervision5 Y& No contact with vietim or family. DocC
: Not to engage in work as psycholtherapist.
" Sex offender treatment. ’
Defendant cannot participate of engage in activities
with children under 16 years oid.
Register as a Sex Offender.
Costs waived, o
. - L
1 05-14-2042 Restitution $1106.56 to Mrs. Ford. $2532,32 Mr Ford,

$474.50 ta Jennifer,

$4089.06 to Mr Ford’s
Insurance Co. -

Conditions of Sentence or Probation

Obligations: (Totai amounts oniy)

Court
Costs

Attomey

Fees " Restitution

8202.44

Fine

Mandatory
Victim/Wit, 5% Rest. DNA Anal.
Other Surcharge Surcharge

Surchargs

M

: o
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STATE OF WISCONSIN ' . CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 7 i .____BROWN COUNTY

State vs Michaet A DeLain o Judgﬁeht of Conviction

: : 'Senfence_tb WiSconsih"State'Prisons
Date of Birth: 11-03-1962 I ‘ Case No.: 01CF000624

mis ADJUDGI_ED that 0 days sentence credit are dus pursuant to § 973.155 Wisconsin Statutes.
Tis ORDERED that the Sheritf execute this sentence,

-Richard J. Dietz, Judge

-John F Luetscher, District Atiorney
Stephen M Glynn, Defense Attorney
Robert R Henak, Defense. Attorney

Date

i
Zio} 0100 Judgmant of Camdcrion : 138939.50, 838.51, 972,13, Chapier 973 Wistonsin Statutas
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STATE OF WISCONSIN — __CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 7 , BROWN COUNTY

State vs Michael A Delain - _ Judgment of Conviction
a _ Sentence Withheld, Probation Ordered
Date of Birt_h: 11-03-1962 Case No.: 01CF000624

The defendant was found guilty of the following crime(s):

Date(s) Trial  Datels)

Ct. Dascrintion ] Violation Plea Severity Committed To Convlcteq
3 Sexual Exploitation by Therapist 940.22(2} ) . Not Guitty Felony C 05-02:2001 Jury 03-07-2002
IT IS ADJUDGED that the defendant is guifty as convicted and‘s'entencad as follows:
Ct, Sent, D;u Sentence o Length Concurrent with/Consecutive to/Comments Agency
3 05-14-2002 Withheld, Probation 4 YR consecutive ta ct. #1. Conditions same.as inct. DOC
. Ordered #1. - i

R-212l0} 0100 Judgmant of Conviction
0C-20 02/92

.Richard J, Dietz, Judge

Conditions of Sentence or Probation

; o ’ 3

IT IS ADJUDGED that O days sentence credit arg due pursuant to § 973.155 Wisconsin Statutes.
IT IS ORDERED that the Sherift execute this sentence.

John F Luetscher , District Attorney
Stephen M Giynn, Defense Attorney
Robert R Henak, .Defens_e Attorney

Court Qfficial ! (y

D>

Data

e
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. App. 15
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TATE OF WISCONSIN - ' CIRCUIT COURT " BROWN COUNTY

‘tate vs Michael A Delain . ' JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND
: SENTENCE TO THE COUNTY
JAILIFI@EIFORFEI’FURE

ate of Birth: 11-03-1962 ' . : . Case No.: 01CF000624

The defendant was found guilty of the foliowing offense{s):

: ' Datels) Trial  Dateis}
.. __Dascription . Violation Plaa Severity Committed . . To Convicted

Hesistirig or Obstructing an Officer 946.41[1) Not Guilty Misd, A 06-07-2001 Jury‘ 03-07-2002

_The defendant is guiity. as convicted and sentenced as 'f'bllgws: : )
. Sm Date Sem‘ancé . Lsngth Conc. wlthﬁﬁons to/Comments Begin dato Begin time Agency

05-14-2002 Local jail 8 MO concurrent with ct. #1 and to BCJ
' ‘ - be served at the Dodge .
Correctional institute.

is adjudged that O days sentence credit are due pursuant to § 973,155 W'sconsm Statutes.

Speclal Conditions: -

It Is ordered that the Sheriff shall execute this sentence.

&
Richard J. Dietz, Judge e
John F Luat;scher, District Attorney
Stephen M Glynn, Defense Attorney
Robert R Henak, Datense Attorney
. County Sheriff

Circuit Court Judge/Cle'r’k/gputy Clerk / /
Date

.,)_,

i_—i
App. 16

y
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| STATE OF WISCONSIN . : CIRCUIT COURT : " BROWN COUNTY

~ "STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff, : Hon. Richard J. Dietz
Case No. 01-CF-624

V. : , _ . AUTHENTICATED COPY

MICHAEL A. DELAIN, ' '
: ' APR 1 b 2003 7

" Defendant, _

: PAUL 6. JANQUART
. ) " CLERK OF COURTS -

- . - EAOVITCOUNTY, W

ORDER

For ﬂle_ reasons stated oﬁ the rgcord on February 10, 2003 and April 15,
2003, Dr. DeLain’s motion for post-conviction relief is DENIED,
Dated this/SFday of April, 2003.

@W

Hom. Richard J. D1
Circuit Court Judgs

—— e———
- App. 17



. DUPUCATE

? ' . STATE- OF WISCONSIN ~ CIRCUIT COURT o BROWN COUNTY
. o BRANCH VII :
- STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff, 7
vs. o Case No. 01CF624
MICHAEL A. DELAIN,
Defendant.
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
i POST~CONVICTION RELIEF HEARING
poon C :
. February 10, 2003
Hon. Richard J. Dietsz
Circuit Court Judge
Presiding
. 2:12 P.-I0.
at the Brown County Courthouse
Green Bay, -WI
Kara L. Nagorny, RPR
Official Court Reporter
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los£ her identity as a patieﬁt and that the-
therapist/patient'relatibnship_ended, and fhere!s
simply no basis in this recbrd-or'in the law for you to
draw that conclusion. And:really,alllof the evidence'
Which really was not even challenged at trial was that

in fact their relationship was éngoing, and in fact

that much of that was.by stipulation, that the doctor

engaged in psychotherapy with Jennifer Ford in

© April and May of 2001.

That's all I've got to say on that.

THE COURT: Any response?

MR. HENAK: ©No, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. ﬁe've been bn_the record
‘for almost an hour and a half. I want to organize my
thoughts and give_the réporter a chance to.stretch her
fingers, so we'll take a few minutes recess. |

(Short recess taken.)

THE COURT: We're back on the record on file
0lCF624.  I have had an opportunity to consider the
arguments of the parties, review some of the case law
that was cited. I conclude on the basis of this entire
recerd that Michael Deliain has not met the.burden of
proof with respect to a requirement thét the court order
a new trial in the interests of justice. 2And we-decided

in this case and properly so that that issue could be

KARA L. NAGORNY, RPR
[
- App. 19
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‘addressed before w?Vréach the issues with respect to

Mr. Glenn's representation in this case, but in'many-Ways

these things aré all somewhat tied together.

We heard at length testimony of Frank-Farrelly

. with régard to provocative therapy, a method of

psychological treatment that he basically invented. He
has expressed and I think it's uncontroverted in this.
record at least that Mr. Gleénn was éware.of

Dr. Farrelly, attempted to contact him maybe one time
and did not follow through on that contact.

It's clear that information about Frank Farreily
was given to Mr. Glenn at the time that this matter was
pending for trial. I look at this as a somewhat
different circﬁmstanpe than a situation where that
evidence may not have been available prior to trial and
was’later; It seems to me the issue in this case is
not whether Frank Farrelly in. and of himself should
have been called by Mr. Glénnﬂbut whether there should
have been some testimony from an expert in psychology
concerning provocative therapy; and in that regard,

Dr. Lange testified with respect to his dse of

provecative therapy in this case and in other cases;
and the mere fact that thét, there was a particular
witness located in Madison who may have been able to

testify and substantiate the procedure I don't believe
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is in and of 1tself sufficient to find that" the"
interests of juSthE mandates a new trial.

Whether or not to call any expert, whether it be
Frank Farrelly or any other expert in the area of
psychologidal treatment or counselling is a decision I
think that trial counsel needs to,make on fhe bésis of
what he is aware the testimony will be, and I just

simply can't see where calling this particular_witness

in and of itself would give rise to the need for a new

trial..

I think we need to get into the issue of whether
or not Mr. Glenn's overall representation of Dr. Delain -
was defective because he failed to cdll Mr. Farrelly or
some other witness; and so I think that issue begs the
question ——- I'm sure there éfe any number of witnesses
on both sides who would testify as to the
appropriateness of what occurred on May 2, and the fact
that more witnesses weren't called by the State or a
witness to substantiate Dr. Delain's testimony wasn't
called I think could very well evolve into the issue of
trial strategy, and I think we need to hear from
Mr. Glenn in that regard.

There is another issue with respect to the
testimony of two witnesses that also testified at the

last hearing, Valerie Delain and the other witness,

KARA L. NAGCRNY, RPR
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with regard to statements that may have been made by

.Dr. DeLain prior to May 2 and in fact on April 25 I

believe is the date. The State argues that the Court
shouldn't consider that because those statements are

inadmissible under the rules of evidence, and I don't.

- agree with the State's position on that. The case

law —- and I've read Tome, and I understand what the
Supreme Court was saying, but I also look-at this in
light of cases in Wisconsin that predate Tome and
frénkly that post—daﬁes that Supreme Court decision,
and Ifm looking primarily at Stafe v. Street.

Now, in both that case and the Mares case, it was
the defendant who was objecting to certain testimony,
and I think Mares'is fairly clear and I don't think
it's inconsistent with Tome although it was decided

before Tome in that there are three reasons that

“rebuttal evidence or evidence of prior consistent

statements can be utilized: Recent fabrication,
improper influence, and motive.
The State makes a fairly strong argument that

Dr. Delain based upon the conduct that the jury found

'to have existed had a motive to make a, the statements

that he made to those two people on April 25; but T
have to look at what went on in the trial and put those

statements in the context of what occurred. It was

KARA I.. NAGORNY, RPR
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‘clear at the trial that the State was trying to make an

argument. that the records of the clinic could very well

‘have been altered sometime between Bpril 25 and

sometime after May 2, and the State went inté great
length with respect to that. Although there may have
been a motive to make a false statement to others on .
April 25, nonetheless aé I read Mares and also as I
read State v. Street; I think that the Court must lock
at not only the motive that may have exiéted_at that
time but also the issuve. of whether or not fﬁe testimony
would be introduced to rebut an argument of recent
fabrication; and in both of the caées, it involved
situations as an example in State v. Street where there
was an allegation of an implied charge of recent
fabrication or the rehearsal of videotape testimony and
coaching, I think the same thing‘aligns here.

That having been said, I then look at the
testimony and whether the mere fact that those two
witnesses were not called wéuld be such .a plain defense
error -as to create a substantial probability of a
different outéome, whether the interests .of justice
would require on that fact alone that the Court order a
new trial and I cannot find that.

Again, there are potentially many reasons why that

testimony would not have been proffered. I don't know

KARA L. NAGORNY, RPR

R R
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if it was Strategic;. It does appear that there is some

-evidence that Mr. Glenn was aware of that ihformétion'
ipridr‘to the trial in this matter, and the mere fact

that that testimony may have corroborated the testimony

of Dr. Delain I don't. think is in and of itself
sufficient to establish whetherlthere7might not have
been other good strategic reasons why that testimony
would not be produced. |

| There was some .evidence in this record concerning
the potential financial'problems of the clinic itself
asran example, and I think that that needs to be
addressed in the context of again ineffective
assistance of,counéel rathei than merely standing alone
at this time-with regard to the requirement that the
Court order a new trial. '

There were other issues raiéed‘that have been
addressed, the comments that were made with respect to
closing arguments or rebuttal by Mr;-iuetscher in this
case, and there again, I look at those and try to look
at the totality of the circumstances. And although I
have to address those things in order and sequence, I
am considering all of that in light of the overall
trial in this matter and whether or not the interests
cf justice require that the Court order a new trial.

Mr. Luetscher concedes and did concede at the time

KARZA L. NAGORNY, RPR
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of-the'£riai that his-comment with regard to how the
victim.might'feel was,inappropiiate, but he immediately
backed off. He apoiogized. He made a statement on the
recofd directing the jury to wﬁat he believed is the
proper method by which they shouid decide the issues in
this case, and I'm satisfied that the closing
instruction that I gave was close enough in time to the
rébuttal closing argument of Mr. Luetscher, that that
was not so glaring a statement even if it may have been
improper that it would_require a new trial. The jury
was properly instructed on the method by which they
should consider the facts in this case.

VWith regard'to the'other statefment, I'm satisfied
then under all of the circumstances that constituted a
fair comment on the'Closing'argument of Mr. Glenn.

That argument went on as it properly should havé at
length asking the jury to coﬁsi&er whether Dr. DéLain
would have.a motive, whether this whole thing made
sense, and whether his'history, his experience and
things of that nature; and I reviewed some of the cases
that were cited, and I think that the comments by |
prosecutors in those cases with regard to the
Dillingers and people of that world are substantially
different than the comment that in this case maybe the

comment with respect to naming a particular president

KARA L. NAGORNY, RPR
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" could have been handled differently; but certainly T

think the argument that there are other people in the

publlc eye and who hold 1mportant pOSlthnS who make,

had made some more. mlstakes was not appropriate under

all of the circumstances.

~With respect to the issue of whether or not there
was sufficieﬁt evidence in the reéorduto establish a
violation of Count 3, the sexual exploitation by a
therapist, that's an interesting issue. I have read
Ambrose. It isn't particularly helpful becauée that
issue went more to whethérqor not Mr. Ambrose under the

circumstances existing at that time was that in fact a

~ therapist under the statute, and I don't think that

that is an issue in this case. Clearly Dr. DelLaln was

a therapist.

I also beélieve that on May 2 a therapist/patient
or therapist/client—relatiOnship existed even if I were
to conclude that the victim in this case had decided
she no longer wanted to seek therapy thréugh _

Dr. Delain. I don't think that that perscnal decision
on her part is dispositivé of the iséué; and we're
talking about as we are with many, if not most crimes,
the concept of ethicacy on the part of the person who
is charged with the crime. And Dr. Delain in fact

believed at the time that he had a therapist/client or

KARA L. NAGORNY, RPR
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- therapist/patient relationship with this young lady and

inrfact'exercised'thaf right or exercised that
understandiﬁg rather througﬂ‘their sessi@n that
occurred; and this is an issue the appellate courts in
the state will ultimately have to determine, but I am
satisfied that even in a circumstance such as this, and
I distinguish it from the argument that was made with
regard to conspiracy, because in that circumstance the
conspiiacy ends because»somebody has basically
voluntarily withdrawn from the cohspiracy. This is
another coféonspirator or criminal.  That's a
substantially different circumstance,

It's often been said that a person is entitled to

a fair trial, not a perfect trial. If an error

occurred here at all, in my view that would be tied to

whether or not Mr. Glenn was ineffectiwve in his

representation of Dr. Delain, and we have not reached

'that issue; but on the basis of this entire record,

again, I conclude that a new trial is not required in
the interests of justice at this time pending further

proceedings with regard to the issue of ineffective

.assistance of counsel. And in that regard, I think it

would be appropriate to try to schedule that.
MR. HENAK: Your Honor, I did contact Mr. Glenn

this morning. I do have the bad dates on his calendar,

KARA L. NAGORNY, RPR
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Delain's testlmony would just be cumulative in the eyes .of

the Slxth ClICUlt is ~-- is not omnly- wrong but it's
unreasonable. So the Court canﬁot I submit rely on -- on
the State's argument there;'
| And with that I am done talking.

THE‘COURT: Thank you.

There been a numbér of exhibits that have been~admittedt
in the record and I have not had an opportunlty to look at-
them I think that it's appropriate that I review those.

So I'll take a few minutes to loék at those exhibits and
i'll come ocut with a decision.

MR. LUETSCHER:. All right.

(Wheréupon, a reaess was_taken.)

(Whereupon, proéeedings reconvened.f

THE COURT: We are back on the record on File
01CF-624. Dr. DeLain and counsel are present. I've had an
opportunity to review the varioué exhibits and consider the
testimony in this case.

First, I woula like fo address.the issue that was
initially raised with regard to whether the interest of
Justice requires that the Court order a new trial.

Superimposed over the hearings in this case seems to be
an argument that because Frank Farrelly invented orxr
developed this concept of provocative therapy that in this
case it was absolutely necessary that a fair trial cannot be

96
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held uniesé he testified and I reject that argument.

Mr. Farrelly festifiedﬂin the brior proceedings in this
case and he is an expert. ﬁe might have a better |
understanding of provocative therapy than others. He may

not. Others who have adopted the process of pProvocative

therapy in -- in the area of psychotherapy may have a better
understanding.
The -- the mere fact that he is a potential witness inf

my view does not require absolutely that he had to be called
in this case. He may have been of some value. He may not.
I think that to determine that his testimony alone would
create a reasonable probability 6f a different outcome in
this case were he to haveltestified is at best speculative.
With regard to the two witnesses that apparently could
have testified with regard to statements made by Dr. Delain
immediately after the Aprii psychotherapy session with Ms.
Ford again I think that there are issues with respect to
their testimony whether that testimony would have come into
court in any‘event and the mere fact that those witnesses
were availéble and had that information ddes not necessarily
make the likelihood that the-Jury wouid have heard that
testimony under the circumstances in this caserand,
therefore, I -- I do not believe that simply in the interest
of Justice that -- that the fact that that information was

not gleaned by Mr. Glynn nor attempted to be presented to
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the Jury creates a circumstance where it is mandatory that

this Court exercise its discretion and —-- and order a new

trial.

I think the real issue here is whether. or not Mr;
Glynn's efforts in this case; his‘professional efforts Were
inadequate and whethe: or not that creataa the -- the
prejudice in this case which the Court must find in order to
order a mew trial.

Mr. Glynn testified at length in this hearing with
regard to what-he did by way of preparation and the —~- the
two apecific issues that the Court needs to address is
whether his professional efforts ware_deficient with respect
to not contactinglbr; Farrelly, not at least deterﬁining
whether he would be appropriate as ~- as a wifness and also
with respeét to Ms. Delain; Ms. Kovacs.

His testimony was that heé made one phone call to Mr.
Farrelly. He testified today‘he waa unaware whether he had
a Ph.D. or not.‘ He also testified as to what is his
preference with respect to calliag expert witnesses and it
was clear from his testimony that -- that there is a
weighing; a winnowing and siftihg of the facfs, the area of
expertise and things of that nature.

The fact of the matter is that Mr. Glynn did have an

expert. In fact had consulted with two experts. Was

satisfied that their testimony may be useful in this case

o 98
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and'Wasrprepéred-to call one of_them at the trial of this
matter.

It's not for this Coﬁrt to second-guess hié
determination that he was satisfied with the expert
testimony that he had and again it would be éﬁre speculation

for me to guess whether looking at Mr. farrelly's relative

‘qualifications; looking at his demeanor as a witness that he

,would have selected Mr. Farrelly over the psychologist that |

he had prepared and -- and was prepared to -- to call in
this case, if he deemed thaf that was necessary and I think
that‘é exactly the kind oflsecond—guessing that fhe Cpurt is
supposed to avoid in a case such as th;s.-

There was an expert. The whole conceptiof addressing
the issues of the appropriateness of the psychotherapy had
been adequately reviéwed'and adequately prepared. As I

stated before, Mr. Farrelly simply wasn't a —— an absolutely

' necessary witness in this case and although an attempt was

made by Mr. Glynn to —— to contact him when that was
inappropriate knoWing that he haq a perfectly quélified
expert who had been prepared, whb had reviewed the materials
and who was available to téstify in my view‘was sufficient.
He testified also that he spent a couple of hours at
Dr. Delain's office; that he talked fo members of the staff.
His testimony was that it was his recollection that nocbody
ever informed him of these statements that Dr. DeLain and --

99
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and thé@other_witnesées testified were made with respect to -

,the'ﬂpfil psybhotperapy session.

He also went on to téstify tﬁat even if he had been
aware of that teétimony, he would have-feviewed and -- and
may have reviewed the -- the iﬁles of;evidence with respect -
to*prior‘consistent statements. |

Now it's-prétty clear I think that there's a differéndé

of opinion between Mr. Glynn and Mr. ﬁenak concerning the

~admissibility of -- of those statements. Mr. Glynn

testified that he has considerable experience with that

particular rule of evidence and that even if he had been

aware of that, he would have gone through a -~ a -- a

questioning process and while I'm not required to rule on

that -- that eviden¢e at this time I certainly would find

-that his statement with regard to his review of -— of the -

rule of evidence and -- ahd his review of whether or not it
might be admissible is both ﬁrofessional and éthical and
that likely in the event that even if he had been aware of
that evidence -- and I'm not -- I can't make a finding from
this record absolutely that he was unaware of it --— but‘even
if he-were unaware of it and -- ahd he very wéll may have
been, it -- it would be again speculation as to whether that
evidence would have ever been presentedrto the Jury and
clearly an attorney has a professional obligation to review
evidence and abide by ~- by the rules of evidence.

o 100 \
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Mr. Glynn téstifiéd‘that it was ‘his opinion; his
professional opinion'that unlikeiY'fhat would have been

admissible in any event and I can't disagree with that

"~ opinion; although I'm not making a specific ruling. . Clearly 
_there is a basis in the law for his analysis with regard to

-= to that testimony.

There_are two aspects to looking at the effectiveness
of counsel in the case. One is whether or not counsel's

conduct and ~-- and performance was deficient and then

| whether or not there is a reasonable probabiiity that that

might have changed the -- the outcome of the proceedings.
The Court-does not have to reach the second prong of
that test if I find that the testimony satisfies me that the

attorney's conduct in the case; performance in the case was

not deficient and I find on the basis of this entire record

that overall the performance by Mr. Glynn clearly was not
deficieﬁt. |

Again I would have to speculate that even if Mr.
Farrelly ‘had been contécted and had been selected and named
as an expert witness that he would have been called; Mr.
Glynn was satisfied based upon his cross—examinatidn of D;.
Armentrout that the impression that he wanted to leave with
the Jury and was appropriate to be left with the Jury was
taken care of. He decided not to call the expert That he in
fact was prepared to call, if that became necessary, and
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'that could have very well been the same dec1szon, strateglc 1

deClSlon that he would have made w1th respect to Mr.

-Farrellyrand again I == T ~- 1t's not my-job to se¢ond—§uess

at this point and -- and to speculate but quite frankly I -—

I don't think as I prev1ously stated that Mr. Farrelly is

" the 1ndlspensable witness in this case that it has been

argued.

Having found that Mr. Glynn's performance was not

‘deficient; that his representation of Dr. Delain was in fact

effective,and adequate or more than adequate I am going to
deny the motion.

MR. HENAK: Your Honor, I do have in
preparatlon for the hearlng since the Court of Appeals has
given us until tomorrow to dec1de the motion I have put
together two separate draft orders coming out either way.
So what I would do is submit the one that I preferred not to
use to the Court.

| THE COURT: Do you want to show that to —-—
MR. HENAK: =-- Yes.
' 'MR. LUETSCHER: TIt's fine.

MR. HENAK: 'Kay.

THE CQURT: It's a simple motion (SIC}) and
the record should reflect that I have dated and signed.that
motion.

is there anything else we need take up on the record?
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